January 2008
To Members of the Ann Arbor Planning Commission and City Council
History of the east side of the 400 block of S. Fifth Avenue, Ann Arbor, Michigan.

Prepared by Susan Wineberg

A proposal by Alex DeParry to construct a large apartment building on the site of seven historic houses has prompted us to try to educate people on the importance of this block, both historically and architecturally.  The loss of these houses will be irreparable for the history of the city and will result in the loss of many mature trees and vegetation as well. The proposed plans do not follow the guidelines recently adopted by the city for development in neighborhoods (and this is still a neighborhood with many owner occupied houses!). Bear with us as we tell you more about this important streetscape.

All of the properties on this block are part of the Original Plat of Ann Arbor, registered in Detroit in 1824 by John Allen and Elisha Rumsey, the two founders of the town.  The east-west streets were named by the developers after their wives, their children (William St.), and our presidents (Washington and Jefferson; later plats used Madison, Monroe and Adams). The north-south streets were given numbers, which has contributed to confusion ever since.  The block in question was originally platted into 8 lots. The earliest map which shows houses indicates that every lot had a house by 1853 except one. Some of the houses built on these lots date back to the earliest settlement of Ann Arbor. Others replaced older houses in the late 19th and early 20th century. All of the houses are over 100 years old.
403 S. Fifth Ave


This is NOT proposed for demolition as it is in a historic district. It was built in 1883 (and is a good example of the late Italianate/Queen Anne style) by William Merkle, an officer in the Krause Tanning Company. It was later occupied by Herman Allmendinger, owner of Allmendinger Music.  It received a preservation award in 1990. Mr. DeParry won the award and was quoted in the paper stating he wanted to “recreate the kind of place that downtown merchant William Merkle used to call home a century ago.”
407 S. Fifth Ave.


This wooden Dutch Revival style, gambrel roofed house replaced a much older house that was on the 1853 map and belonged to pioneer jeweler Calvin Bliss. This house dates to 1902 belonging to Richmond Bannister, widow of William. It was occupied soon later by Alfred J. Paul but was purchased in the 1920s by C.L. Starbuck, owner of the famous College Inn restaurant on S. State St. He remained here until his death in 1945.  For many years after, it served as the offices of several dentists and was famed for its beautiful extension plantings, for which it received a Golden Trowel Award in 1990. This house and its neighbor at 411 also appeared on the cover of the Ann Arbor Observer in June, 1984.
411 S. Fifth Ave


Built ca 1901 by clothier Andrew Reule, first of Wadhams, Ryan and Reule and later President of Reule, Conlin and Fiegel (well known clothing stores on the corner of Main and Washington), this is a fine example of the Queen Anne Style, with cross gabled roofs, varying sized windows on the front facades in unusual shapes including the oval and the Diocletion type in the attic which is almost a full story.  Reule lived here until at least 1940 and this house was also famous for its beautiful garden in the extension for which it shared the Golden Trowel award in 1990.

415 S. Fifth Ave


This is one of the oldest remaining houses on the street and is in the Greek Revival style, with portions dating to the 1830s, a mere decade after Ann Arbor was settled. It was built by Clayton Gaskell and through inheritance passed into the Beakes family which occupied it for many years. Later additions were added by Beakes in 1859.  The house served as the residence for two Ann Arbor mayors: Hiram Beakes (1873-1875) and Samuel Beakes (1888-18900. It is Samuel Beakes after whom Beakes Street is named. He also wrote an important history of the county entitled “Past and Present of Washtenaw County” in 1906.  It was converted into apartment in the 1920s and was studied by Emil Lorch for the Historic American Buildings Survey of the federal government in the 1930s.  He noted:”good cornice, refined trim, corner pilasters. Shows preservation of an old type but it has been altered.”  It was designated an Individual Historic Property by the City of Ann Arbor in 1988, a designation which was overturned by the courts when that ordinance was declared invalid in 2001.

419 S. Fifth Ave.


Constructed in 1902, this symmetrical Queen Anne frame house also has interesting fan trim in part of the double gabled attic space and restrained gingerbread trim on the porch which has survived until today! It was built by Henry Mann, a bookkeeper at Mack and Schmid Department Store (Mr. Schmid lived across the street).  This house replaced a much older house built by lawyer John Gott in the 1840s. This house with its beautiful spindle work appeared on the cover of the Annual Ann Arbor Guide for 1989-90, indicating that it is seen as emblematic of the ambience of Ann Arbor.  This house was protected as an Individual Historic Property in 1994, an ordinance which was overturned in 2001.
427 S. Fifth Ave.


This was the home of another mayor (1905-1907) of Ann Arbor, Francis M. Hamilton, who lived here until his death in 1914. His wife Nellie Hamilton Ornbaum continued to live here into the late 1938. Hamilton attended UM (class of 1869) and was a developer who built Hamilton Place (still a charming street off East William St.) and many houses on William St. and Fifth Ave. as well. He also left $1000 to build the bronze Hamilton Fountain still standing on North University near State St.  Hamilton was recognized by architecture professor Fiske Kimball as “a public spirited official who made the good of the city his constant concern.”   His wife was a Conover, descended from one of the first pioneers to arrive from Upstate New York in the 1820s.  She was also the sister of Mrs. Herbert Slauson, who lived with her husband next door at 433 S. Fifth Ave.
The house is another example of the early 20th century Queen Anne type which is more restrained and more symmetrical than the exuberant Queen Annes of the late 19th century. It too has cross gables and a cutaway corner in the front that contribute to the style. It has an open porch and is part of the long line of open porches that characterize this streetscape and make it so attractive.
433 S. Fifth Ave


This house was the home of Herbert Slauson, [the Superintendent of Public Schools for Ann Arbor and the man after whom Slauson School is named] from about 1905 through the late 1930s.  It was previously occupied by S. W. Clarkson, a descendant of Minerva Clarkson Munday who was a niece of Elisha Rumsey, one of the founders of Ann Arbor. The Clarksons were instrumental in establishing the Episcopal Church in Ann Arbor.


The house appears to be quite old given its low-pitched roof, overhanging eaves and symmetrical floor plan with a notable lack of ornament.  It could be as old as the 1850s and be an example of the Greek Revival vernacular style, but we have not been able to establish the exact date of construction. The Colonial Revival doorway was probably added in the 1920s. It was converted into apartments by 1940.
437 S. Fifth Ave.


Built in 1866 in a vernacular Greek Revival style by John McCarthy, it was sold to the Thomas Taylor family in 1870. An old photograph from the late 19th century can be found in the papers of Nellie Hamilton Ornbaum (widow of Mayor Francis Hamilton who lived at 427 S. Fifth) at the Bentley Library.  This house was also protected as an Individual Historic Property in 1994, but the IHP Ordinance was overturned in 2001 by the Circuit Court.  The nomination for this property from 1994 states “With its neighbors, it is a key part of one of the most intact Victorian (19th and early 20th century) streetscapes in the downtown area.”


